IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, ALLSTATE INDEMNITY COMPANY, Petitioners, CASE NO. SC05-435

v.

CONSOLIDATED

Respondent.

HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL, INC. Cross-Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC05-545

v.

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY, ALLSTATE INDEMNITY COMPANY Cross-Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS/CROSS-RESPONDENTS ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY & ALLSTATE INDEMNITY COMPANY

Richard C. Godfrey, P.C. Andrew A. Kassof R. Christopher Heck Kirkland & Ellis LLP 200 East Randolph Drive Chicago, Illinois 60601 (312) 861-2000

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This case arises out of an attempt by a medical provider, Holy Cross Hospital, Inc. ("Holy Cross"), to interpret a statute enacted to benefit insureds in order to nullify a payment schedule for medical benefits to which it contractually agreed. Holy Cross contracted with a network of medical providers named Beech Street Corporation ("Beech Street"). Holy Cross – by contract – agreed and promised to provide medical services at agreed-to, reduced rates as full payment for the services it rendered to patients whose insurance coverage was provided by an insurer that contracted with Beech Street.

Beech Street, in turn, contracted with Petitioners Allstate Insurance Company and Allstate Indemnity Company ("Allstate"), which provide automobile insurance in Florida including personal injury protection ("PIP") coverage. Through its contract with Beech Street, Allstate offered its insureds the option to access the reduced rates of Holy Cross and other medical providers under the contracts with Beech Street. Allstate's PIP coverage did not, however, require any insured to seek medical care from any particular provider. When Allstate insureds were injured and received treatment from Holy Cross, Allstate paid the rates Holy Cross had agreed to in its contract with Beech Street. Holy Cross, suing under a purported assignment from the insured patients, now asserts that it is entitled to more money than it agreed to charge in its Beech Street contract. Holy Cross argues that Fla. Stat. § 627.736(10), part of the Florida Insurance Code that regulates PIP insurance, invalidates Allstate's contract with Beach Street. Its argument, however, cannot be squared with the plain text, legislative history, administrative agency interpretation, and underlying purpose of Section 627.736(10). The statute's requirements do not apply to Allstate's program, as both the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have held and confirmed.

Allstate's network program with Beech Street gives insureds complete freedom to choose any provider while offering an alternative option that lessens the financial burden caused by automobile accidents. Far from violating Section 627.736(10), the program furthers the purpose of the Florida Insurance Code. Holy Cross should not be permitted to use this statute, which the legislature did not enact for the benefit of medical providers, to avoid and nullify its own contractual commitments and impose greater costs on Florida's insureds.

B. STATUTORY PROVISION AT ISSUE.

Section 627.736(10) of the Florida Insurance Code ("Subsection 10") is the statutory provision at issue. It provides as follows:

An insurer may negotiate and enter into contracts with licensed health care providers for the benefits described in this section, referred to in

2

this section as "preferred providers," which shall include health care providers licensed under chapters 458, 459, 460, 461, and 463. The insurer may provide an option to an insured to use a preferred provider at the time of purchase of the policy for personal injury protection benefits, if the requirements of this subsection are met. If the insured elects to use a provider who is not a preferred provider, whether the insured purchased a preferred provider policy or a nonpreferred provider policy, the medical benefits provided by the insurer shall be as required by this section. If the insured elects to use a provider who is a preferred provider, the insurer may pay medical benefits in excess of the benefits required by this section and may waive or lower the amount of any deductible that applies to such medical benefits. If the insurer offers a preferred provider policy to a policyholder or applicant, it must also offer a nonpreferred provider policy. The insurer shall provide each policyholder with a current roster of preferred providers in the county in which the insured resides at the time of purchase of such policy, and shall make such list available for public inspection during regular business hours at the principal office of the insurer within the state.

§ 627.736(10), Fla. Stat.

C. FACTUAL SUMMARY.

Holy Cross entered into a contract with Beech Street Corporation on December 1, 1995. (R1:129, 131-41) In that contract, Holy Cross promised and agreed to provide medical services to covered insureds for injuries from automobile accidents in exchange for agreed-upon amounts set forth in a fee schedule. (*Id.*) Holy Cross contracted to receive these amounts as payment in full for its services. Under its contract with Beech Street, Holy Cross also agreed not to "balance bill" any covered insureds. Specifically, it agreed not to bill an insured for the difference between the provider's billed rate and the agreed-upon reduced rate. (*Id.*)

Beech Street, in turn, entered into contracts with insurers such as Allstate to create a network of contracts between providers of medical services and insurers to pay agreed-upon rates for the health care provided to covered insureds. (R1:128) Under the network contracts with Beech Street, insurers like Allstate agreed to make a pool of covered insureds available to the network, and thus to providers like Holy Cross. (R1:128) In return, Allstate's insureds received the benefit of the reduced rates providers like Holy Cross agreed to charge under their contracts with Beech Street. (R1:128, 130) The network of contracts benefited insureds by providing greater access to providers at a lower, agreed-upon cost. (R1:130)

In March 2000, Allstate contracted with Beech Street and ADP Integrated Medical Solutions ("ADP"), a firm that marketed Beech Street's network of providers. The Allstate-Beech Street contract allowed Allstate insureds to take advantage of these negotiated rates from providers. (R1:128) This program did not change the standard PIP insurance policy Allstate issued to its insureds. Rather, it was completely voluntary. Insureds always retained the option of using any provider they desired or using a network provider (and thereby paying lower prices for medical services). (*Id.*) The arrangement neither limited insureds' choice of providers (as they did not have to use a provider from the Beech Street

network), nor offered any "preferred provider" option in the Allstate insurance policy. (Id.)

The network program was straightforward. Under its contract with Beech Street and ADP, Allstate provided an insured who made a claim with an "800" number operated by Beech Street. (R1:129) An insured could call this number and receive information about providers in her area who had agreed to the reduced rates. (*Id.*) Allstate later included an insert in its mailing list for new policies and renewals explaining the Beech Street program. This information armed Allstate's insureds with the information they needed to alert them to the providers in the Beech Street network. (*Id.*)

Under the network program, Allstate's insureds paid less for their claims and received more insurance coverage. (R1:139-141) The Florida Insurance Code requires PIP insurers to pay 80 percent of an insured's reasonable expenses for necessary medical care, with the insured responsible for the remaining 20 percent. Fla. Stat. 627.736(1)(a). PIP policies also cap coverage at a certain amount, usually \$10,000. Because Allstate obtained a lower fee option for its insureds' medical services, the insureds had the option to pay 20 percent of a *reduced* rate, rather than a higher rate charged by the provider. (R1:128-29; R2:391-92) Similarly, because Allstate would pay 80 percent of a lower amount, the insured would have more coverage under the insurance policy for future claims. Thus, the

agreements between Allstate and ADP or Beech Street, on the one hand, and providers like Holy Cross and Beech Street on the other, gave the insureds *more* coverage for *less* cost.

Matthew Winik and Lawrence Weisner were Allstate insureds who benefited from the network program. (R1:2, R2:263) Both were injured in automobile accidents in the Spring of 2001 – Weisner on April 12, 2001, and Winik on May 10, 2001. (R1:2, R2:262) Allstate insured both Weisner and Winik at the time under separate Allstate policies that included PIP coverage. (R1:2, R2:263) Weisner and Winik sought and received treatment from providers at Holy Cross on the same days as their injuries. (R1:9, R2:270) Well before their treatment, Holy Cross contracted with Beech Street to accept reduced rates for its services, and Allstate contracted with Beech Street and ADP to access those rates for its insureds. (R1:129, 131-41)

Allstate received PIP claims from Weisner and Winik, and forwarded those claims to ADP for processing under Beech Street's contract with Holy Cross. (R1:46-47, 71-72, R2:309-10, 334-35) The network program's application to these two insureds illustrates how the program benefits insureds generally. For example, the services Holy Cross performed for Weisner normally would have cost \$1,569.03. (R2:310) Holy Cross's contract with Beech Street, however, provided for a fee of \$1,077.02 for these services, a savings of almost \$500. (R4:439)

Because of this network program, Mr. Weisner personally saved almost \$100 out of his own pocket (20 percent of the savings), and had almost \$400 more of added coverage under his policy (80 percent of the savings).

Allstate paid both claims according to the terms set forth in the Beech Street-Holy Cross agreement.¹ Along with its payments, Allstate also sent an Explanation of Medical Bill Payment ("EOB") form to both insureds and to Holy Cross, which detailed the fees and explained: "Payments are based on this provider's Beech Street Contract. Patient's responsibility is limited to the difference between the amount paid and the Beech Street contracted fee shown in the billed amount column." (R1:164; R4:439) ((capitalization removed)) After receiving each of the EOBs, Holy Cross accepted and deposited the Allstate checks without protest or complaint. (R1:95-96, R2: 358-59) In fact, prior to filing this lawsuit, there is no evidence that Holy Cross ever questioned, protested or disputed the amounts it agreed and promised to charge under its agreement with Beech Street and which Allstate paid in full. Nor is there any evidence that Holy Cross ever balanced billed either Weisner or Winik for any additional amounts.

¹ As payment for the services to Lawrence Weisner, Allstate sent a check to Holy Cross in the amount of \$861.62. Similarly, Allstate paid Holy Cross \$186.30 for services rendered to Allstate insured Matthew Winik. (R. 1:164, R4:439)

D. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW.

Holy Cross filed its complaints in the county court in April 2002. (R1:1, R3:262) Holy Cross and Allstate cross-moved for summary judgment. (R1:45, 68; R3:308, 331) On October 21, 2003, the county court granted Holy Cross's motions for summary judgment and entered final judgment in Holy Cross's favor. (R2:251-2, R5:653-4). The county court relieved Holy Cross of its contractual obligations to charge the reduced, specified amounts by holding "that the provisions of Section 627.736(10), Florida Statutes, provide the exclusive means by which an insurance company can contract to pay Preferred Provider rates (PPO rates) on Florida personal injury protection (PIP) coverage." (R2:251, R5:653)

In its orders, the county court also certified the following dispositive legal question as one of great public importance:

IS AN INSURER REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 627.736(10), FLORIDA STATUTES IN ORDER TO TAKE PREFERRED PROVIDER REDUCTIONS IN THE PAYMENT OF PIP BENEFITS FOR MEDICAL SERVICES RENDERED TO ITS INSUREDS?

(R2:252; R5:654) Allstate timely appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the parties briefed and argued the issue before that court. (R2:255; R5:657) The Fourth District issued its opinion on March 2, 2005, answering the certified question in the negative, reversing the summary judgments in favor of Holy Cross, and certifying a conflict with an opinion in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, *Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Central Florida Physiatrists, P.A.*, 851 So.2d 762 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) ("*CFP*"). *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hospital, Inc.*, 895 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). On March 11, 2005, Allstate filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court, and Holy Cross filed its own Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction two weeks later. On November 9, 2005, this Court issued an order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and ordering briefing to proceed on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is an attempt by a hospital to use a PIP statute enacted to benefit insureds, not medical providers, to renege on the payment rates to which the hospital contractually agreed. Various health care providers like Holy Cross voluntarily entered into agreements with provider network groups. Under those contracts, the providers voluntarily promised to accept payment at agreed-upon rates for services rendered to patients covered by an insurer that also contracted with those network groups. The network programs benefited insureds who paid less for the treatment they received, and thus had more coverage available to them in the future.

In this case, Holy Cross, suing under purported assignments from Allstate insureds Wiesner and Winik, seeks to recover amounts above and beyond those to which it contractually agreed to charge under its network contract with Beech Street. This, it cannot do. This Court should reject Holy Cross's claims and affirm the holding of the Fourth District, which followed an earlier holding by the Second District, as a matter of law for several independent reasons.

First, the plain text, legislative history, and underlying purpose of Subsection 10 make clear that the statute's requirements do not apply to Allstate's program. That conclusion has been confirmed by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation ("OIR," previously the Department of Insurance), the administrative agency charged with enforcing the statute.

Second, Holy Cross lacks standing. The Florida legislature enacted Subsection 10 to protect insureds, and the statute's plain language grants no rights to medical providers. In addition, Subsection 10 does not provide or allow for any private right of action or enforcement.

Third, Holy Cross has no valid claim or damages. While Holy Cross has sued under a purported assignment from Allstate's insureds, those insureds have received precisely what their policies require and thus have suffered no damages. Moreover, because Holy Cross contractually agreed to accept the negotiated rates under the Beech Street contract, those payments are reasonable under the Insurance Code as a matter of law.

Fourth, Holy Cross cannot avoid Subsection 10's authorization of the network programs by relying on Subsections 1 and 5 of the PIP statute. Fla. Stat.

627.736(1), (5). Subsection 1 and 5 require an insurer to pay eighty percent of "reasonable expenses" for medical services. Fla. Stat. 627.736(1)(a), 5(a). Paying eighty percent of the amount a medical provider contractually agreed to accept is, by definition, paying "reasonable expenses" for medical care.

In sum, Allstate's contract with Beech Street gives Allstate's insureds complete freedom to choose any provider they desire, but also the option to pay less for health care from providers that contracted with Beech Street. The program fulfills the purpose and legislative intent behind Subsection 10; nothing about it violates that provision or any other part of the Insurance Code. Holy Cross should not be allowed to use this section of the Insurance Code, which the legislature did not enact for its benefit, to renege upon and avoid its own contractual promises and agreements to the detriment of Florida's insureds. The Fourth District below properly upheld the network contracts at issue, and this Court should affirm its decision now on appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court applies a *de novo* standard in reviewing the Fourth District's opinion interpreting Subsection 10 and the Florida PIP statute. *B.Y. v. Department of Children & Families*, 887 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) ("The standard of appellate review on issues involving the interpretation of statutes is de novo.").

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD FOLLOW AND AFFIRM THE FOURTH AND SECOND DISTRICTS' OPINIONS AND REJECT THE POORLY-REASONED DECISION FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT.

Three district courts of appeal – the Second, Fourth, and Fifth Districts – have ruled on the issue now before the Court. The Second District, in *Nationwide* Mut. Ins. Co. v. Jewell, 862 So.2d 79 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) ("Jewell"), issued a comprehensive, well-reasoned holding that (1) insurers could pay PIP benefits at reduced rates under the network contract program, and (2) the rate that a healthcare provider contracted to accept is a "reasonable" amount under the PIP statute. The Second District rejected an earlier decision on the same issue from the Fifth District in CFP. 851 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). The persuasive holdings of the Second District led the Fourth District, in the decision under review, to "find the Jewell decision to be the more persuasive and align ourselves with the Second District on the issue." Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc., 895 So.2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) ("Holy Cross"). The reasoning of Jewell is compelling, and this Court should use it to affirm the Fourth District's decision now on appeal.

The *Jewell* decision analyzes and correctly interprets the PIP statute. The *Jewell* court held (i) that neither the plain language of Subsection 10 nor any other provision prohibited the type of network provider programs at issue here, and (ii) that the programs were consistent with the public policy of the PIP statute. The

Second District disagreed with the Fifth District's decision in *CFP*, which held that "Section 627.736(10) provides the sole language relating to the availability of PPO benefits in PIP cases," that the language was "precise and limited in scope," and that the statute "provides no specific authority for insurance companies to contract with PPO networks." *Id.* at 765.

The reasoning offered by the *CFP* court was extremely brief, and failed to address several important points. The Fifth District did not suggest that any section of the PIP statute expressly prohibited the network provider program. Nor did the Fifth District (i) consider the prior interpretation of Subsection 10 by the OIR, (ii) analyze the subsection's legislative history, which is developed in *Jewell*, or (iii) attempt to square its holding with the PIP statute's policy of increasing coverage for PIP insureds.

The Second District, in contrast, concluded that Subsection 10 does two things. First, Subsection 10 allows insurers to contract with preferred providers using both direct and indirect (such as through networks like Beech Street) contractual arrangements. *Jewell*, 862 So.2d at 83-84. Second, Subsection 10 authorizes insurers to issue preferred provider policies, subject to the statute's requirements. The Second District correctly recognized that an insurer may contract with providers without having to issue preferred provider policies: "Nothing in the text of subsection (10) – or any other provision of the no-fault statute – says that an insurer may contract with preferred providers only if the insurer issues preferred provider policies." *Id.* at 85. And so long as the insurer does not issue preferred provider policies, the mandatory requirements of Subsection 10 do not apply. *Id.* Thus, nothing in the statute prohibits the network provider arrangements used by insurers such as Allstate or Nationwide. As the Second District aptly noted, "If the legislature wishes to prohibit something, it is perfectly capable of saying so. Indeed, few words are more common in the language of legislation than the phrases 'may not' and 'shall not."" *Id.*

After analyzing the language of Subsection 10, the Second District addressed a secondary argument of the *Jewell* plaintiffs – that the reduced rates payments the providers had agreed to were not "reasonable expenses" or a "reasonable amount" under Fla. Stat., 627.736(1)(a), (5)(a). The Second District flatly rejected this argument, explaining that "[i]f a provider has agreed in a valid and enforceable contract to accept payment for services at a particular rate, that rate would necessarily be a 'reasonable amount for the services … rendered' § 627.736(5)(a)." Finally, the court noted that its holding furthered the purposes of the PIP statute by providing lower co-payments to insureds and making more coverage available. *Id.* at 86.

In the decision under review by this Court, the Fourth District surveyed the facts of this case as well as the *CFP* and *Jewell* decisions. The Fourth District

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