### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## ALLSTATE INSURANCE CO. ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO.,

Petitioners/Cross-Respondents,

vs.

Case No. SC05-435 (Consolidated) Case No. SC05-545 (Consolidated)

HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL, INC., et al.,

**Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.** 

## ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER/CROSS-INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER, HOLY CROSS HOSPITAL, INC.

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

statute, it was not entitled to pay the health care providers at the reduced PPO rate. In <u>Central Fla. Physiatrists</u> ("CFP"), <u>supra</u>, the Fifth District examined §627.736(1) and (10), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. The court noted that the language was precise and limited in scope, thereby indicating the legislature's intent that the availability of PPO-PIP benefits is subject to strict compliance with the terms of subsection (10). The court noted that the plain language of the statute stated that an insurance company is permitted to contract with licensed health care providers for PPO benefits, but the statute provides no specific authority for insurance companies to contract with PPO networks. The court concluded that since Nationwide had not complied with subsection (10), it was required to comply with the mandatory provisions of §627.736(1), <u>Fla. Stat</u>.

The Fifth District also rejected Nationwide's claim that the trial court's ruling improperly voided Nationwide's agreement with Beech Street, that CFP lacked standing to assert a claim against Nationwide and the statute provided no private right of enforcement. The Fifth District rejected all of these contentions as being without merit. The Fifth District explained that the trial court's ruling did not void the agreement, but merely held that it was inapplicable under the facts presented in the case. It further explained that CFP had asserted its breach of contract claim against Nationwide in its capacity as assignee of its insured's rights under her PIP contract, not as a medical provider. As such, CFP possessed the

same rights as the insured possessed, vis-à-vis her insurer, including the right to institute a lawsuit to enforce the terms of the contract. Moreover, the court explained that it was clear from the record that CFP had not sought to invoke the terms of subsection (10), but rather was suing merely for the recovery of benefits under the standard PIP statute.

In reaching its holding, the Fifth District vigilantly followed the statutory rules of construction we have identified above. That is, the court applied the plain meaning of the statute, read related statutory terms *in pari materia* with one another, and properly drew an inference that the conduct of the insurer which was not included in the statute by a specific reference was intended to be omitted and thereby excluded by the legislature. In short, the Fifth District's decision complies with every cardinal rule of statutory interpretation relied upon by Florida courts for more than a century.

The Fifth District's decision in <u>Central Fla. Physiatrists</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the court's faithful adherence to the rules of statutory interpretation must be contrasted with the Second District's decision in <u>Jewell</u>, <u>supra</u>. Nationwide there also admitted that it did not comply with §627.736(10), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. The <u>Jewell</u> court stated that it reached two conclusions regarding subsection (10). First, that subsection authorized insurers to contract with preferred providers using both direct and <u>indirect</u> contractual arrangements. Second, subsection (10) did not

prohibit insurers that had not issued PPO-PIP policies from contracting to pay providers at PPO rates.

In conducting its "analysis," the Second District stated that it was by no means clear that the authorization to enter into contracts with licensed health care providers for the provision of PIP health care benefits was limited to direct contracts between PIP insurers and providers. The court explained that to a reasonable person using the English language, the authorization to contract in this context also encompassed third-party contractual arrangements through an intermediary PPO network. The Second District acknowledged, but then ignored, that the legislature has, in other insurance contexts, specifically conferred the authority upon insurance companies to enter into direct and indirect contracts. The court stated that its conclusion that the authorization to contract encompasses both direct and indirect contractual arrangements did not mean that Nationwide had violated subsection (10). Such a violation would only exist if the court concluded that the statute required all insurers that contract to pay providers at PPO rates to issue preferred provider policies. Remarkably, the court concluded that was unnecessary.

The Second District concluded that it would be unreasonable to read the provision that insurers "may negotiate and enter into contracts" with providers in the first sentence of the subsection with the subsequent provision permitting the

issuance of a PPO policy, as prohibiting the PIP insurer from having a contractual relationship with a provider unless the insurer has also issued a PPO policy. The court believed that these statutory authorizations were separate and independent of one another and that neither was mandatory. The court then concluded that the health care providers had, by entering into contracts with third-party PPO networks, established what were reasonable expenses for covered medical expenses and the insurance companies had done nothing inconsistent with the clear language of §627.736, Fla. Stat.

With all due respect to the Second District, it is difficult to imagine an opinion which could conflict with more rules of statutory interpretation than its <u>Jewell</u> decision. While the errors are numerous, the most glaring examples include the Second District's incorporating language not chosen by the legislature into the statute. Where the legislature stated that insurance companies could contract with preferred providers, the Second District essentially rewrote the statute to authorize contracts with third parties who were not preferred providers. Those entities, in turn, could enter into separate contracts with the preferred providers, and this relationship that, at best, could create some third-party beneficiary relationship, satisfied the ordinary definition of the word "contract" as used within the statute. The court ignored the fact that when the legislature has chosen to allow insurance companies to indirectly contract for these services, it has specifically said so in the

statute. Moreover, the court's decision overlooks the rule of law that when the legislature expressly mentions one thing, its silence on another is deemed to be a rejection of that latter proposal. Finally, the Second District's decision ignores the rule of statutory interpretation which prohibits rendering meaningless a piece of legislation. It cannot be forgotten that the statute was amended from its 1991 version in 1992. In 1991, the insurance companies were allowed to do many of the things that Allstate implemented in this case, including offering PPO rates at the In 1992, the legislature changed the statute, requiring the time of service. insurance companies to advise the insured of such policies at the time of sale, not at the time of delivery of the services. The Second District's interpretation of the statute completely renders subsection (10) and the 1992 amendment useless. Moreover, it implements the 1997 proposed bill that failed to make it out of committee and was never approved by the legislature. Under the Second District's interpretation, the insurer could have established such a plan even in the absence of any statutory authority. If either result was the legislature's intent, one has to wonder why the legislature repealed the 1991 version instead of merely including the word "or" between the 1991 and 1992 versions or, for that matter, why there was any legislation at all.

When a statute is clear and unambiguous, as the Fifth, Fourth and Second Districts have held, there is no need for interpretation and certainly no need for a tortured analysis as utilized by the Second District. Most respectfully, the Fifth District's decision is the one that most vigilantly follows long-standing rules of statutory interpretation in this state. This Court should reject the Second District's decision in <u>Jewell</u>.

Allstate maintains that HCH has no legal standing and that subsection (10) provides no private right of enforcement. As such, Allstate concludes that even if subsection (10) is the sole means by which insurers may pay reduced PIP benefits, HCH does not have the legal ability to ask the court for relief requiring Allstate to pay PIP benefits as required by §627.736(1), Fla. Stat. As with the first part of its argument, Allstate is, at best, mistaken concerning the issue here. HCH has not sought any private right of enforcement pursuant to subsection (10). Nor has HCH claimed standing pursuant to that statute. Rather, HCH merely asserted rights to payment of 80% of all reasonable and necessary medical expenses pursuant to \$627.736(1), Fla. Stat. The assignments and those statutes provide HCH with both standing and a right of enforcement.

The concept of legal standing in Florida is not complicated. It has been succinctly stated in <u>General Development Corp. v. Kirk</u>, 251 So.2d 284, 286 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1971) as being a sufficient interest in the outcome of litigation which will warrant the court's entertaining it. <u>See also, Jamlynn Investments Corp. v. San</u>

<u>Marco Residences of Marco Condo. Assn.</u>, 544 So.2d 1080, 1082 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1989). As the Second District explained in <u>Kirk</u>, it is beyond doubt that standing is, in most states, no longer determined by first determining some abstract question such as privity, <u>General Development Corp. v. Kirk</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 286. <u>See also</u>, <u>State Farm Automobile Ins. Co. v. K.A.W.</u>, 575 So.2d 630, 632 (Fla. 1991) (applying <u>Kirk</u> definition of standing to allow uninsured motorist insurer to seek disqualification of attorneys who had represented insured and family in earlier stages of personal injury lawsuit); <u>Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Commercial Standard Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 380 So.2d 1066, 1067 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1980); <u>St. Martin's Episcopal Church v.</u> Prudential-Bache Securities, Inc., 613 So.2d 108, 110, n.4 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993).

To the extent that there ever was a legitimate doubt about standing, Allstate need only look to the last decision in which it made that assertion to this Court to have that doubt removed. In <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</u>, 843 So.2d 885, 895 (Fla. 2003), this Court specifically rejected the same standing argument Allstate asserts here to justify yet another of its illegal schemes. As noted there, Florida courts have authority over any matter not expressly denied them by the State Constitution.

In this case, HCH made its claims as assignee of Allstate's insureds. As recently noted by this Court in <u>Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Pinnacle Medical</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 753 So.2d 55, 57 (Fla. 2000), the right of an assignee to sue for breach of

contract to enforce assigned rights predates the Florida Constitution. Citing, Robison v. Nix, 22 Fla. 321 (1886). In the context of PIP insurance, Florida courts have recognized that health care providers can legally assert claims for PIP benefits against insurers where the insured has assigned them the right to the benefits.<sup>6</sup> Hartford Ins. Co. of The Southeast v. St. Mary's Hospital, Inc., 771 So.2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000); Parkway General Hospital, Inc. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 393 So.2d 1171, 1172 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Allstate recognized this right at the summary judgment hearing when it waived defenses. In short, under Florida state law, health care providers who have accepted assignments from their patients have both standing and a right to enforce the statutory rights of the insured to payment of 80% of all reasonable and necessary medical expenses to the same extent as if the insured were to bring suit. Because Florida courts have recognized both standing and a right to sue for breach of contract in medical providers who have taken assignments from their insured under the Florida No-Fault Act, we see very little reason to respond to the vast majority of Allstate's argument on this point.

Allstate's argument also ignores that Count I of each complaint was for declaratory judgment. Section 86.021, <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>., clearly confers standing on HCH

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In Florida, where a contract of insurance is entered into on matters surrounded by statutory limits and requirements, it is presumed the statutory provisions become part of the contract. <u>Weldon v. All America Life Ins. Co.</u>, 605 So.2d 911, 914-15 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

to have its rights under §627.730, et. seq., Fla. Stat., construed. As such, Allstate's argument concerning a private right of enforcement and the voiding of some contract pursuant to subsection (10) of the statute is, at best, misplaced, and, at worst, irrelevant. HCH has not used subsection (10) as the basis for a cause of action. Nor has HCH argued subsection (10) defensively to void any contract between Allstate and any person or entity as Allstate suggests. Nor did the trial court ever enter such a ruling. Instead, HCH has consistently maintained that Allstate, and any other insurance company issuing a PIP policy in this state, is statutorily required to pay 80% of all reasonable and necessary medical expenses, and any exception to that statutory mandate would have to be included within the terms of the No-Fault Act.<sup>7</sup>

The only provision of the No-Fault Act that would arguably allow Allstate to pay less than 80% of all reasonable and necessary medical expenses is subsection (10), a statute that Allstate freely concedes it has not complied with and, moreover, a statute that it maintains does not govern its conduct with the PPO networks. Allstate did not and has not identified any other provision of the No-Fault Act that would authorize it to pay less than the statutorily-mandated benefits. As such, all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Allstate recognized that it paid less than required by §627.736(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, and stipulated to the amount as it represented at the hearing. Therefore, the argument that there are no damages is completely without merit. The amount of damages is reflected in the judgment. Allstate's policy of indemnity insurance must pay those damages.

the trial court was asked to rule was that Allstate was required to pay the statutory minimum amount of benefits. Whether subsection (10) provides a right to private enforcement or not, is simply irrelevant to the issues that were actually decided in this case. Allstate may not set up a strawman argument, proceed to predictably knock it down, and then claim victory.

#### IV. <u>CONTRACTS WITH NETWORKS</u>

As noted earlier, the tial court entered no ruling regarding the purported contracts between the networks and the health care providers on the one hand and the networks and Allstate on the other. Even if one assumes, for sake of argument, that an actual contract existed, the contract documents demonstrate that the health care providers and the networks contemplated reduced payments for services rendered in the networks' workers' compensation and health services plans.

Allstate has argued that the contracts with the health care providers were modified when the network sent a letter announcing Allstate's participation in the auto plan. Again, even assuming, for sake of argument, that the letter could constitute a modification, to be enforceable, there still must be a mutuality of obligation between the parties. There, likewise, must be consideration for the agreement. In the absence of such, Allstate's insureds, as well as the policyholder of other insurers who illegally reduce their payment obligations are subjecting their insureds to receiving bills for the balance owed.

Recently, the Eleventh Circuit addressed a similar situation arising out of Georgia in <u>HCA Health Services of Georgia, Inc. v. Employers Health Ins. Co.,</u> 240 F.2d 983 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001). After extensively analyzing managed care and the pros and cons for patients and health care providers alike, the court held that the health care providers were not bound by agreements similar to Allstate's here, as there was no consideration for the reduced payments. That analysis applies equally here.

As mentioned, the court did not rule upon the contracts and we do not believe that Allstate may obtain such a ruling for the first time on appeal. However, we do believe that the same arguments that were addressed by the Eleventh Circuit in the <u>HCA</u>, <u>supra</u>, decision apply here.

#### CONCLUSION

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